INDEPENDENCE HOLDING CO Form DEF 14A October 11, 2016

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant x

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

Check the appropriate box:

o Preliminary Proxy Statement

o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule

14a-6(e)(2)

x Definitive Proxy Statement o Definitive Additional Materials

o Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

x No fee required.

o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.

(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:

(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction

computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it

was determined):

(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

(5) Total fee paid:

o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing

by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

- (1) Amount Previously Paid:
- (2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
- (3) Filing Party:
- (4) Date Filed:

Certain statements and information contained in this document may be considered forward-looking statements, such as statements relating to our views with respect to future events and financial performance. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical experience or from future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Potential risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, economic conditions in the markets in which we operate, new federal or state governmental regulation, our ability effectively to operate, integrate and leverage any past or future strategic acquisitions, and other factors that may be found in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We expressly disclaim any duty to update these forward-looking statements unless required by applicable law.

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Be Held on November 11, 2016

Dear Stockholders:

We cordially invite you to attend the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Independence Holding Company (IHC or the Company). Our 2016 Annual Meeting will be held on Friday, November 11, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. EDT and will be our third completely virtual meeting of stockholders. You will be able to attend the 2016 Annual Meeting, vote, and submit your questions during the meeting via live webcast by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2016. To enter the meeting, you must have your twelve-digit control number that is shown on the proxy card accompanying this Proxy Statement. You will not be able to attend the Annual Meeting in person.

Details regarding logging onto and attending the meeting over the website and the business to be conducted are described in the Proxy Card included with this Proxy Statement. We have also made available a copy of our 2015 Annual Report with this Proxy Statement. We encourage you to read our Annual Report. It includes our audited financial statements and provides information about our business and products.

The purpose of the meeting is to:

- 1. elect nine directors, each for a term of one year;
- 2. ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016;

- 3. adopt the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan; and
- 4. transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on September 19, 2016 may vote at the meeting or any postponements or adjournments of the meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Loan Nisser *Vice President and Secretary*

October 11, 2016

<u>HOW TO VOTE</u>: Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, we hope you will vote as soon as possible. You may vote over the Internet, as well as by telephone or, if you requested to receive printed proxy materials, by mailing a proxy or voting instruction card. Please review the instructions on each of your voting options described in this Proxy Statement as well as in the proxy card. Your vote is important, no matter how many shares you owned on the record date. A return envelope is enclosed for your convenience and needs no postage if mailed in the United States.

2016 PROXY STATEMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING	
What is the purpose of the annual meeting and why is it being held over the Internet?	2 2
Who is entitled to vote?	2
How do I vote by proxy?	2
Am I entitled to vote if my shares are held in street name?	2
How many shares must be present to hold the online meeting?	2
What if a quorum is not present at the online meeting?	3
What do I need in order to be able to attend the online meeting?	3
How can I vote my shares during the online meeting?	3
How can I vote my shares without attending the online meeting?	3
Is there a deadline for submitting proxies electronically or by telephone or mail?	3
Can I revoke my proxy and change my vote?	3
Who can participate in the online meeting?	3
Will my vote be kept confidential?	4
Who will count the votes?	4
How does the Board of Directors recommend I vote on the proposals?	4
What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?	4
Will any other business be conducted at the meeting?	4
How many votes are required to elect the director nominees?	4
What happens if a nominee is unable to stand for election?	5
How many votes are required to ratify the appointment of IHC s independent registered public accounting firm	1
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016?	5
How many votes are required to adopt the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan?	5
How will abstentions be treated?	5
How will broker non-votes be treated?	5
STOCK OWNERSHIP	6
Directors and Executive Officers	6
Significant Stockholders	6
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	7
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS	8
Corporate Governance Documents	8
Director Independence	8
Board Leadership Structure	8
Board Role in Risk Oversight	9
Audit Committee Financial Expert	9
Executive Sessions of Non-Management Directors	9
Communications with Directors	9
Nomination of Director Candidates	9
MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	11
Meetings	11
Committees	11
Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders	11

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	11
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	12
Director Independence	12
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	12
Transactions with Management and Other Relationships	12
PROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	14
Nominees for Election to the Board	14
DIRECTORS COMPENSATION	18

Director Summary Compensation	18
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	19
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	19
Compensation Committee Report	22
Compensation Risk Assessment	22
Summary Compensation Table	22
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End	23
Potential Payments to Named Executive Officers	24
Stock Incentive Plans	26
Equity Compensation Plans	26
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	27
AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES	28
Vote Required for the Election of Directors	28
PROPOSAL 2 - RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED	
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	29
Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	29
Vote Required for Ratification	29
PROPOSAL NO. 3: APPROVAL OF THE 2016 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN	30
Background	30
Summary of the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan	30
Vote Required for Adoption	35
OTHER MATTERS	36
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	36
Proxy Solicitation	36
Stockholder Proposals for 2017 Annual Meeting	36

Appendix A - 2016 Stock Incentive Plan

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

96 Cummings Point Road

Stamford, Connecticut 06902

(203) 358-8000

www.ihcgroup.com

2016 PROXY STATEMENT

IHC s Board of Directors (the Board) is furnishing you this proxy statement in connection with the solicitation of proxies on its behalf for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held via live webcast on the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2016. The meeting will take place on Friday, November 11, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. EDT. At the meeting, stockholders will vote on the following proposals: election of nine directors, the ratification of IHC s independent registered public accounting firm, and adoption of the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan. Stockholders also will consider any other matter that may properly come before the meeting, although we know of no other business to be presented.

At the online meeting, stockholders will vote on the following proposals:

- 1. elect nine directors, each for a term of one year;
- 2. ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016;
- 3. adopt the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan; and
- 4. transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

Stockholders also will consider any other matter that may properly come before the meeting, although we know of no other business to be presented.

By submitting your proxy (via the Internet, telephone or mail), you authorize Ms. Teresa A. Herbert, IHC s Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, and Ms. Loan T. Nisser, IHC s Vice President and Secretary, to represent you and vote your shares at the meeting in accordance with your instructions. They also may vote your shares to adjourn the meeting and will be authorized to vote your shares at any postponements or adjournments of the meeting.

IHC s 2015 Annual Report, which includes IHC s audited financial statements as well as its Quarterly Report for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016, is being made available to IHC s stockholders concurrently herewith (the Reports). Although the Reports are being made available concurrently with this proxy statement, they do not constitute a part of the proxy solicitation materials and are not incorporated by reference into this proxy statement.

We are first sending the proxy statement, form of proxy and accompanying materials to stockholders on or about October 11, 2016.

We will be hosting the 2016 Annual Meeting live via the Internet. A summary of the information you need to attend the meeting online is provided below:

Any stockholder can attend the 2016 Annual Meeting live via the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2016;

Webcast starts at 10:00 a.m. EDT;

Stockholders may vote and submit questions while attending the 2016 Annual Meeting on the Internet; and

Stockholders need a twelve-digit control number to join the 2016 Annual Meeting.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING, PLEASE PROMPTLY VOTE YOUR SHARES OVER THE INTERNET, BY TELEPHONE OR BY MAIL.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

What is the purpose of the 2016 Annual Meeting and why is it being held over the Internet?

At the 2016 Annual Meeting, the stockholders will be asked to:

- 1. elect nine directors, each for a term of one year;
- 2. ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016;
- 3. adopt the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan; and
- 4. transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

The 2016 Annual Meeting is being held on a virtual-only basis in order to reach the broadest number of stockholders possible and to save costs relative to holding a physical meeting. A number of prominent publicly traded Delaware companies have held virtual-only meetings.

Who is entitled to vote?

The record date for the meeting is September 19, 2016. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on that date are entitled to vote at the meeting. The only class of stock entitled to be voted at the meeting is IHC common stock. Each outstanding share of common stock is entitled to one vote for all matters before the meeting. At the close of business on the record date, there were 17,067,875 shares of IHC common stock outstanding.

How do I vote by proxy?

If you properly complete, sign and date the accompanying proxy card or voting instruction card and return it in the enclosed envelope, it will be available for examination on the Internet through the virtual web conference during the annual meeting.

Please note that there are separate telephone and Internet arrangements depending on whether you are a registered stockholder (that is, if you hold your stock in your own name) or you hold your shares in street name (that is, in the

name of a brokerage firm or bank that holds your securities account). In either case, you must follow the procedures described in the proxy card.

Am I entitled to vote if my shares are held in street name?

If your shares are held by a bank, brokerage firm or other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name. If your shares are held in street name, the proxy materials are being made available to you by your bank, brokerage firm or other nominee (the record holder), along with voting instructions. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your record holder how to vote your shares, and the record holder is required to vote your shares in accordance with your instructions. If you do not give instructions to your record holder, it will nevertheless be entitled to vote your shares in its discretion on the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm (Proposal 2), but not on the election of directors or the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (Proposal 1 and Proposal 3).

As the beneficial owner of shares, you are invited to attend the annual meeting. If you are a beneficial owner, however, you may not vote your shares at the meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy, executed in your favor, from the record holder of your shares.

How many shares must be present to hold the online meeting?

A quorum must be present at the meeting for any business to be conducted. The presence at the meeting, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding on the record date will constitute a quorum. Proxies received but marked as abstentions or treated as broker non-votes will be included in the calculation of the number of shares considered to be present at the meeting.

What if a quorum is not present at the online meeting?

If a quorum is not present or represented at the meeting, the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at the meeting who are present in person or represented by proxy, or the chairman of the meeting, may adjourn the meeting until a quorum is present or represented. The time and place of the adjourned meeting will be announced at the time the adjournment is taken, and no other notice will be given.

What do I need in order to be able to attend the online meeting?

The Company will be hosting the 2016 annual meeting live online. You can attend the 2016 annual meeting live online at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2016. The webcast will start at 10:00 a.m. EDT. You may vote and submit questions while attending the meeting online. You will need the twelve-digit control number included on your proxy card in order to be able to enter the meeting.

How can I vote my shares during the online meeting?

Shares held in your name as the stockholder of record may be voted by you, while the polls remain open, at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2016 during the meeting. You will need your twelve-digit control number found in the proxy card. Shares held beneficially in street name may be voted by you at the meeting only if you obtain a legal proxy from the broker, bank, trustee or nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares. Even if you plan to attend the online meeting, we recommend that you also submit your proxy or voting instructions as described below so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to attend the online meeting.

How can I vote my shares without attending the online meeting?

Whether you hold shares directly as the stockholder of record or beneficially in street name, you may direct how your shares are voted without attending the online meeting. If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote by proxy. You can vote by proxy over the Internet or telephone by following the instructions provided on the proxy card. If you hold shares beneficially in street name, you may also vote by proxy over the Internet, telephone or by mail by following the voting instruction card provided to you by your broker, bank, trustee or nominee.

Is there a deadline for submitting proxies electronically or by telephone or mail?

Proxies submitted electronically or by telephone as described above must be received by 11:59 pm EDT on November 10, 2016. Proxies submitted by mail should be received before 10:00 am EDT on November 10, 2016.

Can I revoke my proxy and change my vote?

You may change your vote at any time prior to the taking of the vote at the online meeting. If you are the stockholder of record, you may change your vote by (1) granting a new proxy bearing a later date (which automatically revokes the earlier proxy) using any of the methods described above (and until the applicable deadline for each method), (2) providing a written notice of revocation to IHC s Secretary at Independence Holding Company, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York 10022 prior to your shares being voted, or (3) attending the online meeting and voting. Attendance at the online meeting will not cause your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you specifically so request. For shares you hold beneficially in street name, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your broker, bank, trustee or nominee following the instructions they provided, or, if you have obtained a legal proxy from your broker, bank, trustee or nominee giving you the right to vote your shares, by attending the online meeting and voting.

Who can participate in the online meeting?

Only stockholders eligible to vote or their authorized representatives in possession of a valid twelve-digit control number will be admitted as participants to the online meeting.

Will my vote be kept confidential?
Yes, your vote will be kept confidential and not disclosed to IHC unless:
required by law;
you expressly request disclosure on your proxy; or
there is a proxy contest.
Who will count the votes?
Broadridge Financial Solutions, an independent third party, will tabulate and certify the votes. A representative of Broadridge Financial Solutions will serve as the inspector of election.
How does the Board of Directors recommend I vote on the proposals?
The Board of Directors recommends that you vote:
FOR the election of the nine nominees to the Board;

FOR the ratification of the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC s independent registered public accounting firm fo the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016; and
•
FOR the adoption of the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan.
What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?
If you submit a proxy but do not indicate any voting instructions, your shares will be voted:
FOR the election of the nine nominees to the Board;
FOR the ratification of the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC s independent registered public accounting firm fo the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016; and
•
FOR the adoption of the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan.
Will any other business be conducted at the meeting?
IHC s by-laws require stockholders to give advance notice of any proposal intended to be presented at the meeting. The deadline for this notice has passed and we have not received any such notices. If any other matter properly comes before the stockholders for a vote at the meeting, however, the proxy holders will vote your shares in accordance with their best judgment.

How many votes are required to elect the director nominees?

The affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the online meeting is required to elect the nine nominees as directors. This means that the nine nominees will be elected if they receive more affirmative votes than any other person. The proxy card enables you to vote FOR all nominees proposed by the Board, to WITHHOLD authority for all nominees or to vote FOR ALL EXCEPT one or more of the nominees being proposed. Voting for all nominees except those you list on the proxy card is the equivalent of withholding your vote for those directors you have listed. If you vote Withheld with respect to one or more nominees, your shares will not be voted with respect to the person or persons indicated.

What happens if a nominee is unable to stand for election?

If a nominee is unable to stand for election, the Board may either reduce the number of directors to be elected or select a substitute nominee. If a substitute nominee is selected, the proxy holders will vote your shares for the substitute nominee, unless you have withheld authority.

How many votes are required to ratify the appointment of IHC s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016?

The ratification of the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016 requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present at the online meeting or by proxy and entitled to vote. The proxy card enables you to vote FOR or AGAINST the proposal or ABSTAIN from voting on the proposal. Abstentions will have the same practical effect as votes against the proposal.

How many votes are required to adopt the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan?

The approval of the adoption of the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present at the meeting or by proxy and entitled to vote. The proxy card enables you to vote FOR or AGAINST the proposal or ABSTAIN from voting on the proposal. Abstentions will have the same practical effect as votes against the proposal.

How will abstentions be treated?

Abstentions will be treated as shares present for quorum purposes and entitled to vote, and will have the same practical effect as votes against a proposal.

How will broker non-votes be treated?

Broker non-votes will be treated as shares present for quorum purposes. Your broker will be entitled to vote your shares in its discretion on the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016 (Proposal 2) without your voting instructions, but not on the election of directors (Proposal 1) or the adoption of the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (Proposal 3).

STOCK OWNERSHIP

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned based on 17,067,875 issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of September 19, 2016 (the Record Date) by: (i) each of our directors, and (ii) each of our named executive officers.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. Other than as described in the notes to the table, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to shares beneficially owned by them. All share ownership figures include shares issuable upon exercise of options or warrants exercisable within 60 days of the Record Date, which are deemed outstanding and beneficially owned by such person for purposes of computing his or her percentage ownership, but not for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

The address of each individual named below is c/o IHC at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06902.

Name of Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares		Percent of Class
Mr. Larry R. Graber	100,285	(1)	*
Ms. Teresa A. Herbert	131,987	(2)	*
Mr. David T. Kettig	158,285	(3)	*
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman	24,651		*
Mr. John L. Lahey	20,625		*
Mr. Steven B. Lapin	122,162	(4)	*
Mr. Ronald I. Simon			
Mr. James G. Tatum	36,651		*
Mr. Roy T. K. Thung	545,750	(5)	3.1%
All directors, nominees for director and executive	1,140,396		6.5%
officers as a group (8 persons)			

*

Represents less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

(1)

Includes 55,000 shares of common stock underlying stock	options exercisable	within sixty (60) days	s from the date
hereof.	-		

(2)

Includes 74,800 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the date hereof. Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the named individual is an officer.

(3)

Includes 66,300 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the date hereof.

(4)

Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the named individual is an officer.

(5)

Includes 258,500 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the date hereof. Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the named individual is an officer.

Significant Stockholders

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned, based on 17,067,875 issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of the Record Date, by certain persons known by IHC to own beneficially more than five percent of the outstanding shares of IHC common stock.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. Other than as described in the notes to the table, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to shares beneficially owned by them. All share ownership figures include shares issuable upon exercise of options or warrants exercisable within 60 days of the Record Date, which are deemed outstanding and beneficially owned by such person for purposes of computing its percentage ownership, but not for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

<u>Name</u>	Number of Shares	Percent of Class
Geneve Holdings, Inc. (1)	9,145,226	53.58%
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP. (2)	968,331	5.67%

(1)

According to (i) information disclosed in Amendment No. 35 to Schedule 13D dated May 9, 2001 of Geneve Holdings, Inc. (GHI), a private diversified financial holding company, supplemented by (ii) information provided to IHC by GHI in response to a questionnaire. GHI is a member of a group consisting of itself and certain of its affiliates that together hold the shares of common stock of IHC. The address of GHI is 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06902.

(2)

According to information disclosed in Form 13F, reporting as of June 30, 2016 (the Form 13F), Dimensional Fund Advisors LP, an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, furnishes investment advice to four investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and serves as investment manager to certain other commingled group trusts and separate accounts (such investment companies, trusts and accounts, collectively referred to as the Funds). In certain cases, subsidiaries of Dimensional Fund Advisors LP may act as an adviser or sub-adviser to certain Funds. In its role as investment advisor, sub-adviser and/or manager, Dimensional Fund Advisors LP or its subsidiaries (collectively, Dimensional) possess voting and/or investment power over the securities of IHC that are owned by the Funds, and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares of IHC held by the Funds. However, all shares of IHC s common stock reported in the Form 13F are owned by the Funds. Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities. In addition, its filing of the Form 13F shall not be construed as an admission that it or any of its affiliates is the beneficial owner of any securities covered by the Form 13F for any other purposes than Section 13(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The address of Dimensional Fund Advisors LP is Palisades West, Building 1, 6300 Bee Cave Road, Austin, Texas 78746.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires directors and certain officers of IHC and persons who own more than ten percent (10%) of IHC common stock to file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) initial reports of beneficial ownership (Form 3) and reports of subsequent changes in their beneficial ownership (Form 4 or Form 5) of IHC s common stock. Such directors, officers and

greater-than-ten-percent stockholders are required to furnish IHC with copies of the Section 16(a) reports they file. The SEC has established specific due dates for these reports, and IHC is required to disclose in this proxy statement any late filings or failures to file.

Based solely upon a review of the copies of the Section 16(a) reports (and any amendments thereto) furnished to IHC and written representations from certain reporting persons that no additional reports were required, IHC believes that its directors, reporting officers and greater-than-ten-percent stockholders complied with all these filing requirements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Corporate Governance Documents

In furtherance of its longstanding goals of providing effective governance of IHC s business and affairs for the long-term benefit of stockholders and promoting a culture and reputation of the highest ethics, integrity and reliability, the Board has adopted:
a Code of Business Ethics that applies to IHC s Chief Executive Officer and President, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, controller and other IHC employees performing similar functions (the Code of Ethics);
a Corporate Code of Conduct that applies to all employees, officers and directors of IHC and its subsidiaries and affiliates (the Code of Conduct);
Corporate Governance Guidelines (Guidelines) to advance the functioning of the Board and its committees and set forth the Board s expectations as to how it should perform its functions; and
written charters for its Audit and Compensation Committees of the Board (the Charters).
The Code of Ethics, Code of Conduct, the Guidelines and the Charters can be found on IHC s website at www.ihcgroup.com, and are also available in print to any stockholder who requests them. The information on IHC s website, however, is not incorporated by reference in, and does not form part of, this proxy statement. The Board does not anticipate modifying the Code of Ethics or the Code of Conduct, or granting any waivers to either, but were

any such waiver or modification to occur, it would promptly be disclosed on IHC s website.

Director Independence

As a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), IHC uses the definition of independence prescribed in the NYSE Listed Company Manual (the Manual). Each of Messrs. Kirkman, Tatum, Lahey and Simon met such independence requirements. The Board has affirmatively determined that none of them had any material relationship with IHC at all applicable times during 2015.

IHC qualifies as a controlled company, as defined in Section 303A.00 of the Manual, because more than 50% of IHC s voting power is held by Geneve Holdings, Inc. (GHI). Therefore, IHC is not subject to certain NYSE requirements that would otherwise require IHC to have: (i) a majority of independent directors on the Board (Manual Section 303A.01); (ii) compensation of IHC s executive officers determined by a compensation committee composed solely of independent directors (Manual Section 303A.04); or (iii) director nominees selected, or recommended for the Board s selection, by a nominating committee composed solely of independent directors (Manual Section 303A.05).

Of IHC s directors, none of Ms. Herbert, Messrs. Graber, Kettig, Lapin and Thung is independent under the NYSE s standards.

For each independent director, after reasonable investigations and in reliance on representations by such independent director to IHC, IHC believes there is no transaction, relationship or arrangement between each such director not disclosed in this proxy statement under the caption Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Board Leadership Structure

The Board understands that there is no single, generally accepted approach to providing Board leadership and that given the dynamic and competitive environment in which we operate, the right Board leadership structure may vary as circumstances warrant. To this end, the Board has no policy mandating the combination or separation of the roles of Chairman and CEO and believes the matter should be discussed and considered from time to time as circumstances change. Currently, Mr. Roy T.K. Thung is both our CEO and Chairman.

Board Role in Risk Oversight

The Board administers its risk oversight function directly and through its Audit Committee. The Board and the Audit Committee regularly discuss with management, and the Company s independent auditors and internal auditor, our major risk exposures, their potential financial impact on the Company, and the steps we take to manage these risks.

In general, management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the risks the Company faces, while the Board, acting as a whole and through the Audit Committee, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, the Board has the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed. Senior management attends the regular quarterly meetings of the Board and is available to address questions and concerns raised by the Board on risk management-related and other matters.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to risk management in the areas of financial reporting, internal controls and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. In addition, the Audit Committee discusses policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management with management, internal audit and the independent auditors.

The Audit Committee assists the Board with oversight of risk management by reviewing the Company s financial statements and meeting with the Company s independent auditors and internal auditor at regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit Committee, to review their reports on the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal audit and internal control systems, and discusses with management the Company s major financial risks and exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such risks and exposures.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board has determined that at least one member of the Audit Committee, Mr. Tatum, is an audit committee financial expert as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

Executive Sessions of Non-Management Directors

Non-management Board members meet without management present at least twice annually, at regularly scheduled executive sessions. At least once a year, such meetings include only the independent members of the Board. Mr. Kirkman presides over meetings of the non-employee and independent directors.

Communications with Directors

You may communicate directly with any member or committee of the Board by writing to: IHC Board of Directors, c/o Corporate Secretary, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York 10022. Please specify to whom your letter should be directed. The Corporate Secretary of IHC will review all such correspondence and regularly forward to the Board a summary of all such correspondence and copies of all correspondence that, in her opinion, deals with the functions of the Board or its committees or that she otherwise determines requires the attention of any member, group or committee of the Board. Board members may, at any time, review a log of all correspondence received by IHC that is addressed to Board members and request copies of any such correspondence.

Interested parties who wish to communicate with non-management IHC directors, or with the presiding director of the Board s executive sessions, may do so by writing to IHC Board of Directors, c/o Corporate Secretary, Attn: Non-management Directors or the Presiding Director for executive sessions, as applicable, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York 10022. All such mail received will first be opened and screened for security purposes.

Nomination of Director Candidates

In light of GHI s majority voting power, the Board has determined that the Board, rather than a nominating committee, is the most appropriate body to identify director candidates and select nominees for presentation at the annual meeting of stockholders. In making nominations, the Board seeks candidates with outstanding business experience who will bring such experience to the management and direction of IHC. The minimum criteria employed by the Board in its selection

of candidates are set forth in the Guidelines, along with certain other factors that inform the selection process. All directors serving on the Board participate in the consideration of director nominees. Furthermore, in light of GHI s voting power, the Board has determined that no policy with respect to consideration of candidates recommended by security holders other than GHI s would be appropriate.

The Board does not have a formal policy with respect to diversity. However, the Board seeks to have a Board that reflects an appropriate balance of knowledge, experience, skills, expertise and diversity, as applicable to our industry. The Board assesses its achievement of diversity through the review of Board composition as part of the Board s annual self-assessment process.

MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Meetings

During 2015, the Board held four formal meetings. Each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of: (i) the total number of meetings of the Board; and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board on which he served, during the applicable period.

Committees

The Board has standing Audit and Compensation Committees. Committee memberships are as follows:

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Mr. James G. Tatum (Chairman)

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman (Chairman)

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman

Mr. John L. Lahey

Mr. John L. Lahey

Mr. James G. Tatum

Audit Committee. The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to: (i) select an independent registered public accounting firm; (ii) review and approve management s plan for engaging IHC s independent registered public accounting firm during the year to perform non-audit services and consider what effect these services will have on the independence of IHC s independent registered public accounting firm; (iii) review IHC s annual financial statements and other financial reports which require approval by the Board; (iv) oversee the integrity of IHC s financial statements, IHC s systems of disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting and IHC s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (v) review the scope of audit plans of IHC s internal audit function and independent registered public accounting firm and the results of their audits; and (vi) evaluate the performance of IHC s internal audit function and independent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit Committee met four times during 2015. Each of its members meets the independence requirements of the NYSE and applicable SEC rules and regulations.